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INTRODUCTION

This appeal raises three issues of great legal significance in Wisconsin. The

first issue invites this Court to give the judiciary and practitioners guidance in

applying newly-amended Wis. Stat. § 907.02 to expert opinions. The reliability

standard set forth in Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1) requires trial courts to scrutinize the

methods experts use in formulating their opinions and the manner m which those

methods are applied to the facts of the case. The present case asks whether

Wisconsin's new reliability standard requires experts to justify their opinions with

something more than their qualifications and personal preferences.

The second issue concerns counsel's prejudicial statements made during

closing arguments which violated multiple orders in limine, impugned the

integrity of opposing counsel, and distracted the jury from its factfmding function.

Recent opinions of this Court expressed a clear admonition: an attorney is not free

to say whatever he or she wants without regard for its prejudicial effect. Plaintiffs'

counsel did not heed this warning. The present case asks whether counsel's

prejudicial statements undermined Defendants' right to a fair and just trial on the

merits.

Finally, the foregoing two issues bear greatly on the jurors' ability to

understand the role of expert testimony in medical negligence cases. Thus, the

present case asks whether the exceptional circumstances of this appeal justify this

Court exercising its power to order a new trial in the interests of justice under Wis.

Stat. §752.35.
VII



STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. Did the testimony of Plaintiffs' standard of care expert meet Wis,

Stat. § 907.02(l)'s new reliability standard?

Answer by the circuit court: Yes.

II. Did the prejudicial comments made by Plaintiffs' counsel during

closing argument require a new trial?

Answer by the circuit court: No.

Ill, Under all of the circumstances, did the interests of justice require a

new trial under Wis. Stat. § 805.15(1)?

Answer by the circuit court: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are both warranted. This case presents

complex issues of Wisconsin law which justify an oral presentation by the parties.

Additionally, published case law pertaining to the novel and important issues

raised in this appeal would benefit Wisconsin litigants.

vni



STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

On July 29, 2011, Plaintiffs initiated this medical malpractice lawsuit

against Dr. Kay Balink, a family practice physician. The allegations underlying the

Plaintiffs' complaint arose from Dr. Balink's prenatal care ofKimberly Seifert and

the delivery of her child, Braylon Seifert, on May 28 and May 29, 2009. Plaintiffs

alleged that Dr. Balink provided them negligent care, causing Braylon to

encounter a shoulder dystocia and suffer a brachial plexus injury during delivery.

Additionally, Plaintiffs alleged that Dr. Balink failed to acquire informed consent

while caring for Kimberly Seifert.

B. Undisputed Background Facts

The undisputed facts adduced at trial pertain to (I) Dr. Balink's prenatal

care ofKimberly Seifert, (2) Dr. Balink's delivery ofBraylon Seifert on May 28

and May 29, 2009, and (3) the brachial plexus injury suffered by Braylon.

1. Dr. Balink's Prenatal Care ofKimberly Seifert

Dr. Balink assumed Kimberly Seifert's prenatal care on December 5, 2008.

(R. 116: Ex. 236 at RICH 283.) Between December 5, 2008 and the date of

delivery, May 29, 2009, Ms, Seifert attended regular prenatal visits with Dr.

Balink on approximately 10 occasions. (R. 116: Ex. 237A at KB 8-14.) During

these prenatal visits. Dr. Balink monitored, among other things, the approximate

duration of Ms. Seifert's pregnancy, her weight, the glucose content of her urine,

and the approximate fundal height of her child. (Id.) Dr. Balink documented the
1



results of each of her prenatal assessments of Ms. Seifert in the medical records.

(Id.)

Ms. Seifert's pregnancy lasted approximately 39V2 weeks. (R. 145: pp. 70-

71.) During her pregnancy, she gained approximately 30 pounds. (Id. at p. 65.) At

no time during the pregnancy did Ms. Seifert's urine contain significant amounts

of glucose. (R. 141: pp, 157-58.) The presence of glucose in the urine may alert

the physician that the mother has gestational diabetes. (Id.) By the end of the

prenatal period, Dr. Balink measured the fundal height of Ms. Seifert's child to be

39 cm. (R. 145: p. 80,) Fundal height is one way in which a physician may

determine the approximate size of the fetus. (R. 146: pp. 155-57.)

In addition to these regular visits, Ms. Seifert underwent two other relevant

prenatal activities to monitor her health and the health of her child. First, Ms.

Seifert underwent ultrasonic imaging on five (5) occasions during the prenatal

period. (Id. at p. 159.) Ultrasound is another tool available to physicians to

determine the approximate size of the unborn child in addition to measuring the

fundal height. (Id. at p. 215.) Dr. Balink did not order that Ms. Seifert undergo

ultrasonic imaging immediately prior to induction of labor,

Second, Dr. Balink had Ms. Seifert undergo a one-hour glucose tolerance

test on March 19, 2009. (R. 116: Ex. 236 at RICH 226.) Physicians use the one-

hour glucose tolerance test to screen for gestational diabetes in expectant mothers.

(R. 141: p. 63.) If the expectant mother's blood glucose exceeds a certain level, the

physician would then order the patient to undergo a three-hour glucose tolerance
2



test. (Id.) The three-hour form of the glucose tolerance testing is a diagnostic tool

rather than merely a screening tool. (Id. at pp. 63-64.) Dr. Balink determined that

Ms. Seifert need not undergo the three-hom- diagnostic testing because her blood

glucose level on the one-hour screening test was below 140 mg/dL. (R, 145: pp.

46-47.) Ms. Seifert's blood glucose level was 131 mg/dL. (Id.) Ms. Seifert was

never diagnosed with gestational diabetes during her pregnancy. (R. 142: p. 137.)

On May 26, 2009, Dr. Balink recommended induced labor for Ms. Seifert

based on her elevated blood pressure (hypertension). (R. 145: p. 74.) Hypertension

is a warning sign of pre-eclampsia, a potentially life-threatening condition of

pregnancy. (Id.) In Dr. Balink's induction order, she stated that Ms. Seifert's

unborn child was "possibly LGA," or "large for gestational age." (Id.) Dr. Balink

estimated the child's fetal weight at 3,856 grams (8.5 Ibs). (Id. at pp. 80-81.)

2. Dr. Balink's Delivery ofBraylon Seifert on May 28 and May

29, 2009

Ms, Seifert arrived at the hospital for induction on May 28, 2009. (R. 145:

p. 74.) Most of her stay awaiting delivery passed uneventfully. At around 2300,

Ms. Selfert's cervix was fully dilated and effaced, meaning that she was

anatomically ready for childbirth. (R. 116: Ex. 236 at RICH 547.) After pushing

for one hour, Ms. Seifert had not made significant progress in delivering Braylon

and was exhausted. (R. 145: pp. 117-19.) Based on maternal fatigue, Dr. BaHnk

decided to apply vacuum to coincide with Ms. Seiferfs contractions to assist

Braylon's descent through the brith canal. (R. 116: Ex. 236 at RICH 547.)

3



At approximately 0021 on May 29, the crown ofBraylon's head delivered.

(R. 116: Ex, 236 at RICH 501.) The delivery of the crown, however, was

immediately followed by the retraction of the head back toward the womb. (R,

145: p. 131.) This retraction is colloquially termed "the turtle sign." (Id.) The

turtle sign informs the physician that the infant's shoulder is stuck on the mother's

pubic symphysis, a part of the pelvis. (Id.) This event is called a "shoulder

dystocia," and it is Ufe-threatening medical emergency. (Id.) If the physician is

unable to dislodge the infant's shoulder from the pubic symphysis, the baby will

die from hypoxia. (R. 142: p. 42.)

Dr. Balink immediately recognized the turtle sign and diagnosed the

shoulder dystocia. (R. 145: p. 131-32.) She then undertook a sequence of

recognized obstetrical maneuvers to release Braylon's shoulder from the pelvis,

including the McRobert's maneuver, suprapubic pressure, an episiotomy, and a

corkscrew maneuver. (R. 116: Ex. 236 at RICH 501.) Fortunately, Dr. Baiink

managed to dislodge Braylon's shoulder. Dr. Balink testified that, during the

process, she used nothing other than gentle traction on Braylon's head during this

emergency. (R. 145: pp. 133-34.) Braylon was born approximately three (3)

minutes after Dr. Balink diagnosed the shoulder dystocia, or about 0024. (R. 116:

Ex. 236 at RICH 501.)

3. The Brachial Plexus Injury Suffered by Braylon Seifert

After Braylon was born, physicians diagnosed him with a permanent

brachial plexus injury. The brachial plexus is a system of nerves that run from the
4



base of the spine down the length of the arms. Because ofBraylon's injury, his left

arm has permanently impaired function and growth.

One of the focuses of this case was on the etiology of Braylon's injury.

Plaintiffs' alleged that Dr. Balink applied traction to Braylon's head which caused

permanent damage to the brachial plexus. Dr. Balink's contended that the maternal

forces of labor, including maternal pushing and contractions, caused Braylon s

brachial plexus injury.

C. Opinions of Jeffrey Wener, M.D. and Rulings on Admissibility

Dr. Wener, the Plaintiffs' sole standard of care expert, rendered four

opinions critical of Dr. Balink. First, Dr. Wener testified that Dr. Balink breached

the standard of care by failing to order a three-hour glucose tolerance test for Ms.

Seifert. (R, 142: p. 83.) The three-hour glucose tolerance test is used to diagnose

gestational diabetes, a condition which Dr. Wener associated with an increased

risk of shoulder dystocia. (Id. at pp. 40-41.) Fundamental to his opinion. Dr.

Wener stated that the standard of care required Dr. Balink to order the three-hour

glucose tolerance test if Ms. Seiferfs blood glucose level exceeded 130 mg/dL on

the one-hour glucose tolerance screen (as opposed to Dr. Balink's 140 mg/dL

threshold), (Id. at pp. 82-83.) Ms. Seifert's blood glucose level was 131 mg/dL.

(Id.) Therefore, Dr. Wener concluded, Dr. Balink violated the standard of care by

failing to administer the three-hour diagnostic test, which would have shown that

Ms. Seifert was a gestational diabetic.



Second, Dr, Wener opined that Dr. Balinlc breached the standard of care by

failing to perform an ultrasound on Ms. Seifert immediately prior to delivery. (Id.

^

at pp, 101-02.) The ultrasound, Dr. Wener argued, would have given Dr. Balink a

better estimate of Braylon Seifert's fetal weight. (Id. at pp, 100-01.) Braylon's

actual birth weight was 4,370 grams. (Id. at p. 160.) Despite Dr. Wener's opinion

that a physician may choose either 4,000 grams or 4,500 grams as the threshold for

diagnosing the macrosomia. Dr. Wener refused to opine that Braylon was not born

macrosomic. (Id. at pp, 59, 158-62.) Macrosomia is a condition which Dr. Wener

associated with an increased risk of shoulder dystocia. (Id. at pp. 40-41.)

Therefore, Dr. Wener concluded, had Dr. Balink performed ultrasound

immediately before the delivery, she would have known that Braylon was

macrosomic and was, thus, at a greater risk of shoulder dystocia.

Third, Dr. Wener criticized Dr. Balink for using vacuum assistance during

the birthing process. (Id. at pp. 112-13.) He opined that the use of vacuum during

delivery increased the risk that a shoulder dystocia would occur. (Id. at pp. 40-41,

79-80, 110.) Therefore, Dr. Wener concluded that Dr. Balink breached the

standard of care by using vacuum assistance.

Finally, Dr. Wener testified that Dr. Balink breached the standard of care by

applying excessive traction in attempting to resolve the shoulder dystocia. (Id. at

pp. 113-14.) At b-ial. Dr. Wener testified that he believed Dr. Balink used

excessive traction because of the degree of injury and the fact that, in Dr. Balink's



deposition, she used the words "reasonable traction" rather than "gentle traction.

(Id.) Dr. Balink denied that she applied excessive traction. (R 145: pp. 133-34.)

Prior to trial, Dr. Balink moved the circuit court to exclude Dr. Wener s

opinions (1) that Dr. Balinlc failed to order an ultrasound immediately prior to

delivery to estimate fetal weight; (2) that Dr. Balink failed to order a three-hour

glucose tolerance diagnostic test for gestational diabetes; and (3) that Dr. Balink

should not have used vacuum extraction during delivery. (R. 64: pp. 15-27.) Dr.

Balink argued that these opinions were unreliable under Wis, Stat. § 907.02(1)

because Dr. Wener provided no support for his opinions other than his

qualifications and personal preferences. (Id.) He did not rely on medical literature

or other sources containing indicia of reliability. (Id.) Additionally, there were

many flaws in the way Dr. Wener applied his opinions to the facts of the case.

(Id.)

At the pretrial hearing, the circuit court ruled: "Dr. Wener's opinions are

shaky due to their generality, but I conclude that they are sufficiently reliable to be

admitted." (R. 138: p. 108.) The Court characterized Dr. Wener's opinions as

"holistic" in that they prescribe a certain standard of care when various factual

elements converge. (Id. at pp. 108-09.) With respect to Dr. Balink's arguments

that Dr. Wener relied on no medical literature, the circuit court stated that Dr.

Wener's holistic approach is "not something that's been peer reviewed or

published because it's an individualized determination based upon the facts of this

case, and in using known factors" such as estimated fetal weight, maternal weight,
7



glucose levels, etc. (Id. at p. 109.) The circuit court stated that the way in which

Dr. Wener "adds [the factors] up is debatable, but that's not the same as saying the

way that Dr. Wener adds them up is not reliable." (Id.) The circuit court concluded

that, although "[ijt's a close call in my book, as is probably obvious from my

ruling, but as I look at the vagaries of medical treatment and diagnosis, Dr.

Wener's opinion is an opinion, reliably based on a reliable medical methodology

looking at recognized factors of the standard of care." (Id. at pp. 110-11.)

Dr. Wener's opinions at trial were substantially similar to his pretrial

opinions. I-Ie provided no further support for the opinions. However, Dr. Wener

had several additional problems applying his opinions to the facts of the case at

trial. Nonetheless, following Dr. Wener's trial testimony, the court denied Dr.

Balink's renewed motion to strike Dr. Wener's testimony in its entirety under Wis.

Stat. § 907.02(1). (R. 142: pp. 191-94.) Later, Dr. Balink argued that the circuit

court should grant a directed verdict in her favor because Dr. Wener's testimony in

its entirety was unreliable and should be stricken. (R. 147 at p. 6.) The circuit

court denied Dr. Balink's motion for a directed verdict. (Id, at pp. 21-22)

D. Orders in Limine and Plaintiffs' CounsePs Statements During

Closing Arguments

Prior to trial, Dr. Balink and the Injured Patients & Families Compensation

Fund (hereinafter "the Fund") filed pretrial motions in limine. The following

motions in limine and rulings thereon are relevant to the present appeal:

See section I.B of this brief, pp. 25-30.



Dr, Balinkss Motion No. 8. Dr. Balink moved for an order precluding

plaintiffs' counsel from commenting that this case is analogous to any case in

which the defendants' negligence is compared to the duty of the average person.

(R. 57: pp. 12-13.) The circuit court granted this motion at the pretrial conference.

(R. 138: p. 20.)

Dr. Balink's Motion No. P. Dr. Balink moved for an order precluding

plaintiffs' counsel from arguing or making any statements to the jurors that they

can determine medical negligence using their own experience, common sense, or

based on what they "'want' or 'deserve.'" (R. 57: pp. 13-14.) The circuit court

granted this motion at the pretrial conference. (R. 138: pp. 20-21.)

The Fund's Motion No. 2. The Fund moved for an order precluding

plaintiffs' counsel from employing an analogy between purported negligence of a

health care provider rendering medical services to a patient and the average auto

driver who carelessly fails to observe the Rules of the Road. (R. 67: p. 5.) The

circuit court granted this motion at the pretrial conference at Plaintiffs' counsel's

request. (R. 138: p. 30.)

During closing arguments, Plaintiffs' counsel made the following

statements which prejudiced Dr. Balink's defense:

Comparison to the Rules of the Road

[MR. LEVTNE:] Here's the reason why; and we talked about this a little
with the witnesses. Speed limit on the highways in this country can be 65
miles an hour. because it's been determined at 65 miles an hour more
accidents are going to happen, okay?



MR. LEIB: Your Honor, I have to object. This is improper

argument.

MR.LEVINE:Ifsnot

THE COURT: It is argument, continue.

MR. LEVESTE: Thank you. Okay, well, on a nice, beautiful sunny day,
clear skies, 65 miles an hour is probably fine. But there may be factors
that you have to consider that would make that not fine. That would
make you question whether that's the speed you should be going. Let s
say it's pouring rain, let's say it's snowing. You're not going to look at

that number the same. And Dr. Wener, who I'll talk about in a moment,
explained that to you. And this is the issue in this case about gestational
diabetes. No one is denying that they're throwing these two numbers out;
130 and 140. But what he tried to explain to you was when you have a
big mom, who has an increased risk of gestational diabetes because of
her weight, and an increased risk of a big baby because of her weight,

you've got to consider which of these numbers you're going to use. His
point was what's safe at one speed might not be at another. And that you
have to consider those issues. So Dr. Wener's point ~

MR. LEIB: Your Honor, I have to object. This is improper

argument and there's a motion in limine on this.

THE COURT: The objection is overruled.

(R. 150: pp. 23-24.)

First "Golden Rule" Violation

[MR. LEVFNE:] Now, you heard some testimony from the defense
experts, and I'll talk about them as I go along in this case as well and
their bias, where they're coming from. You heard somebody actually get
up on the witness stand and say - Dr. Rouse, I think it was - if it was
139, I wouldn't have done anything. Really? If it was 139, I would have
done nothing different, Is that reasonable to you? Is that reasonable

medicine to you? Is that how you want your doctor to care?

MR. LEIB: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Levine, that is --

MR, LEVINE: 111 withdraw that,

(R. 150: p. 25 (emphasis added).)

Dwight J. Rouse, M.D,, an obstetrician and maternal-fetal specialist, served as one of Dr.

Balink's standard of care experts.

10



Second "Golden Rule" Violation

[MR. LEV1NE:] Is that what you want? You want a doctor to treat
you, or you want a doctor to say, well, you're at 139. You're not at

140. No test for you. Or do you want a doctor to think about you?

MR. LEIB: Your Honor. The Golden Rule.

MR.LEVINE; I'll move on.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. LEVTNE: Would a patient, excuse me, what would a patient want
the doctor to do? Not you, What would a patient want? .. .

(R. 150; p. 123 (emphasis added).)

Derogation of Defense Counsel, Insinuation that Jurors are Experts

I spoke to you in my closing argument and I addressed issues, I didn't
tell you what to do. I didn't tell you you're not experts. I didn't tell you
you're not that smart, I didn't tell you don't know the law. Apparently I
have a little more respect for you than Mr. Leib does. {Id. at p. 118.)

I've got a little more faith in you than he does, because he spent the last
hour and a half telling you what to do, telling you what you can t do,
telling you what you don't know and that you're not going to be experts -
- you're not going to know the information, I disagree, {Id. at p. 118-19.)

These are the kind of arguments you make to juries if you think they re

not to smart. Fool you, scare you, you know? You people are from
Lancaster. How smart could you be, right? I think you're pretty smart, I
think you get it. I think you see through all this nonsense. I think you
should be respected, not told what to do or fooled. You should be talked
to like adults, make you own decisions about this case. Not be told what

todo.(Matp. 125.)

This shell game, you know, this game that they're trying to piay with
you. You know, it's that game, you know, when you go to the fair?
Where's the ball? Whoa, whoa, whoa, where's the ball? That's what they
tried to do to you. It's a matter of respect. I don't do it to you. I'm giving

you the information, you'll figure it out. I'm not telling you what to do.
You're smart. (Id. at p. 130.)

So when Mr. Leib comes before you and makes his big grandstand move.
Where's this one, where's that one? Where's this one? Well, you know,
it's just not true. It's a matter, again, of respect. It's a matter of

respecting you as a group and trying to fool you. You're not going £o get
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fooled. You're pretty damn smart. You're not going to get fooled. I don't
think you'll get fooled. {Id, at p.133.)

You have common sense and you can analyze the expert testimony and
you're smart enough to do it. T'm like, again, I'm like Mr. Leib, I have a
lot of faith in your smarts. I think you are experts in a sense. I think
you've learned quite a bit and I think you can make good decisions. I
don't have to tell you what to do or how to do it. I m not going to do that.

But think it through, ladies and gentlemen. (Id, at p. 137.)

[Final statement to the jury prior to deliberations:] Unlike Mr. Leib,
I think you're smart people and I think you've learned the medicine

and I think you are experts in a sense. {Id, atp. 138 (emphasis added).)

(R. 150: pp. 118-37 (emphasis added),)

E. Motion to Dismiss Informed Consent Claim, Verdict, and Post-

Verdict Activities

During motions for a directed verdict, in addition to again moving to strike

Dr. Wener's testimony, Dr. Balink moved for dismissal of Plaintiffs' informed

consent claim. (R. 147: pp, 7-15.) Dr. Balink argued that there was insufficient

proof to place the informed consent question on the verdict, (Id.) The circuit court

disagreed, concluding that the evidence was sufficient and that Dr. Wcner's

opinions brought the case within Martin v. Richards, 176 Wis. 2d 339, 500

N.W.2d691 (Ct.App. 1993). (Id. at pp. 11-13, 17-20,)

The jury returned a verdict in favor of the Plaintiffs on their negligence

claim. (R. 115.) The jury did not find that Dr. Balink violated informed consent.

(Id.)

Dr. Balink brought motions after verdict asking the circuit court to, among

other things, order a new trial. (R, 127.) Dr. Balinlc argued that the circuit court

erred in admitting Dr. Wener's expert opinions and should order a new trial based
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on Plaintiffs' counsel's prejudicial statements during closing argument and in the

interest of justice. (Id.)

The circuit court denied each of Dr. Balink's requests for a new trial. The

circuit court's decision on admitting Dr. Wener's testimony echoed its previous

reasoning. (R. 151: pp. 2-9.) However, the circuit court went further by suggesting

that any erroneous admission of evidence was harmless, (Id. at pp. 3-6.) It stated,

without significant explanation, that the expert opinions in dispute pertained only

to the informed consent claim and that the negligence claim related only to the

issue of whether Dr. Balink used excessive traction. (Id.) The circuit court stated

that it must "sustain the verdict if I can find any set of facts which would support

the jury's verdict," (Id. at p. 4), and did so on that basis,

As to statements made during closing argument, the circuit court generally

concluded that the statements were not sufficiently prejudicial to warrant a new

trial. (Id. at pp. 9-15.) PIowever, the circuit court did note that Plaintiffs' counsel's

analogy to the Rules of the Road "was bumping up on the motion in limine" and

that "[i]f I were Mr. Levine I would probably have lost some hours of sleep over

wishing maybe 1 had chosen a different analogy . ..." (Id. at p, 9.)

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

While the Court of Appeals reviews for an erroneous exercise of discretion

the circuit court's decision to admit evidence, it reviews de novo the circuit court s

interpretation and application of Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1). 260 N. 12th St., LLC v.

State DOT, 2011 WI 103, ^ 38-39, 338 Wis, 2d 34, 808 N.W,2d 372; ^e also
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Lees v, Carthage College, 714 F.3d 516, 520 (7th Cir. 2013) (regarding the

Daubert standard, "[wjhether the district court applied the appropriate legal

framework for evaluating expert testimony is reviewed de novo, but the court's

choice of relevant factors within that framework and its ultimate conclusion as to

admissibility are reviewed for abuse of discretion."). Additionally, the circuit court

concluded that any errors in admitting evidence under Wis. Stat. § 907,02(1) were

harmless; however, the court's analysis was based on an incorrect standard and, as

such, this Court should review harmless error de novo. Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co, v.

Golke, 2009 WI 81, ^ 18, 319 Wis. 2d 397, 768 N.W.2d 729.

The Court reviews for an erroneous exercise of discretion the circuit court s

decision not to grant a new trial based on counsel's prejudicial statements. Wagner

v. Am. Family Mut Ins. Co., 65 Wis. 2d 243, 249, 222 N.W.2d 652 (1974).

The Court reviews for an erroneous exercise of discretion the circuit court s

decision not to grant a new trial in the interests of justice under Wis. Stat. §

805.15(1). Toisky v. Riteway Bus Serv., Inc., 220 Wis. 2d 889, 898, 584 N.W.2d

188 (Ct. App. 1998). However, the Court has the statutory authority, in its

discretion, to order a new trial "if it appears from the record that the real

controversy has not been fully tried, or that it is probable that justice has for any

reason miscarried." Wis. Stat. § 752.35.

ARGUMENT

This appeal presents errors which deprived Dr. Balink of a fair and just

day in court. First, the circuit court misconstrued Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1) and erred
14



in admitting the expert opinions of Dr. Wener. Second, the circuit court

erroneously exercised its discretion in failing to order a new trial based on

Plaintiffs' counsel's prejudicial statements during closing argument. Finally, the

circuit court's denial of Defendants' motion for a new trial in interest of justice

was in error, and this Court should exercise its discretion in ordering a new trial.

Defendants will address each of these arguments in turn below.

I. DR. WENER'S EXPERT OPINIONS WERE UNRELIABLE, AND
THUS INADMISSIBLE, UNDER WIS. STAT. § 907.02(1).

The 2011 amendments to Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1) ushered in a sea change to

the admissibility test for expert testimony. No longer are experts permitted to

testify on matters merely because the testimony relates to the facts of the case. The

expert's testimony must satisfy the now-prominent Daubert standard. Plaintiffs

presented only one standard of care expert. Dr. Wener, and his opinions were not

supported by any research or literature authored by him or anyone else. Indeed, his

opinions were not supported by the American College of Obstetrics and

Gynecology ("ACOG"), the authoritative obstet'ical organization to which Dr.

Wener is a Fellow. As explained below, Dr. Wener's testimony fell woefully short

of meeting this new criterion. If the amendment to Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1) is to

have any meaning, it must bar the testimony of Dr. Wener in this case.

The Daubert standard charges trial courts with "the responsibility of acting

as gatekeepers to exclude unreliable expert testimony.'" Fed. R, Evid. 702 advisory

committee note (2000 amendment). Specifically, Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1) states:
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If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier
of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a
witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training
or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise,
if the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, the testimony
is the product of reliable principles and methods, and the witness has
applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.

(Emphasis added). The reliability portion of the statute reflects Wisconsin s

codification of Federal Rule of Evidence § 702 and the landmark United States

Supreme Court case Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm. Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993).

The Daiibert reliability requirement applies not only to testimony based on

scientific principles but also to all testimony predicated on technical or other

specialized knowledge. Kumho Tire v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137, 141 (1999). The

broad application of the reliability requirement in Kumho Tire made clear that

expert testimony in medical malpractice cases was now subject to greater scrutiny.

Recognizing Kumho Tire, this Court, in an unpublished decision, concluded that

the Daubert reliability requirement applied to standard of care experts in medical

malpractice cases. Rupert v, Tandias, 2014 WI App 24, ^ 8-10, 352 Wis. 2d 756.

The Rupert court found that Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1) did not limit itself to non"

medical experts and that the federal system had often applied the standard to

medical experts, includmg ones addressing standard of care. Id.

In determining whether to admit expert testimony, the circuit court must be

satisfied that the testimony is reliable by a preponderance of the evidence.

Dauberl, 509 U.S. at 593; State v. Williams, 220 Wis. 2d 458, 463-64, 583 N,W.2d

845 (Ct. App. 1998). In this case, the circuit court's decision to admit the
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testimony of Dr. Wener implicates two requirements set forth in Wis, Stat. §

907.02(1). First, Daubert requires that expert testimony must be based on reliable

principles and methods. Dr. Wener had no basis for his opinions other than his

qualifications. Second, Daubert requires that the expert must reliably apply his or

her principles and methods to the facts of the case. Dr. Wener made numerous

mistakes in applying his opinions to the facts, further undermining the reliability

of his testimony. Because Dr. Wener's opinions were unreliable, the Court should

order a new trial.

A. Dr. Wener's Testimony Was Not Based on Reliable Principles or

Methods.

Dr. Wener did not, and could not, support his opinions with reliable

principles or methods. Dr. Wener admitted that he did not review or rely on any

medical literature. (R. 142: pp. 135-36.) Yet, Dr. Wener testified at trial that the

scientific studies upon which he could have based his opinions were available in

the literature: "We know what risks, we know that many, many studies have been

done. The literature is replete ~ you look at one piece of literature and they'll say

that there's a risk factor for shoulder dystocia of 35 percent. You look at another

article that says 15 percent." (Id. at pp. 187-88.) However, rather than rely on the

literature. Dr. Wener relied solely on his personal preferences and assumptions,

neither of which can be tested or verified.

The circuit court erred as a matter of law by not interpreting Dauberi's

reliability requirement to demand more than mere qualifications and personal
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preferences. At the outset, the law on reviewing an expert's principles and

methods for reliability is well-established. In light this established law, Dr.

Wener's preferences on the use of ultrasound in estimating fetal weight, glucose

tolerance testing, and use of vacuum are not reliable under Daubert. Additionally,

Dr. Wener's refusal to rely on literature which he acknowledged existed

undermines the reliability of his methodology.

1. The Law on Reliable Principles and Methods

The new requirement that expert opinions must be the product of reliable

principles and methods signifies a substantial departure from the relaxed

"relevancy" standard used by Wisconsin courts prior to the 2011 amendments.

Trial courts may assess the experts' principles and methods using the following

recognized but non-exhaustive list of factors:

1. Whether the expert's technique or theory can be or has been tested-
that is, whether the expert's theory can be challenged in some
objective sense, or whether it is instead simply a subjective,
conclusory approach that cannot reasonably be assessed for
reliability;

2. Whether the technique or theory has been subject to peer review and
publication;

3. The known or potential rate of error of the technique or theory when

applied;

4. The existence and maintenance of standards and controls; and

5. Whether the technique or theory has been generally accepted in the
scientific community.

Fed. R. Evid. 702 advisory committee note (2000 amendment); see also Dazibert,

509 U.S. at 593-94. None of the factors set forth in Fed. R. Evid. 702's advisory
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committee notes are necessarily dispositive, and the trial court has discretion as to

which factors it considers important under the facts of the case. Id, The goal of this

review is to avoid admitting opinions based on the expert's own ipse dixit or

personal preference. General Electric Co. v, Joiner, 522 U.S. 136, 146 (1997); see

also Zenith Elecs. Corp. v. WH-TV Broad. Corp., 395 F.3d 416, 419-20 (7th Cir.

2005).

Importantly, federal courts have warned that "[a] supremely qualified

expert cannot waltz into the courtroom and render opinions unless those opinions

are reliable and relevant under the test set forth by the Supreme Court in Daubert."

Clark v. Takata Corp., 192 F.3d 750, 759 n.5 (7th Cir. 1999). In other words, trial

courts should not unduly focus its reliability analysis on the witnesses

qualifications. Fuesting v. Zimmer Inc., 421 F.3d 528, 535 (7th Cir. 2005). This

principle is implicit in the very language of Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1), which

distinguishes between the qualification and reliability inquiries.

While failing to support expert opinions with literature or studies is not

alone dispositive, it is an important reliability consideration in medical malpractice

cases. E.g., McDo^ell v. Brown, 392 F.3d 1283, 1299-1301 (llth Cir. 2004)

(citation to only one article, which was distinguishable, was not sufficient to show

reliability of methodology); Sullivan v. U.S. Dept. of Navy, 365 F.3d 827, 834 (9th

Cir. 2004) (citations to four relevant, accepted textbooks was a sufficiently reliable

basis for opinions); McGovern ex rel, McGovern v. Brigham & Women's Hosp,,

584 F. Supp. 2d 418, 424-26 (D. Mass. 2008); Berk v. St. Vincent's Hosp. and
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Medical Center, 380 F. Supp. 2d 334, 354-355 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (the ipse dixii of

the expert, without any supporting literature, did not satisfy the Daubert reliability

requirement).

Because of the close relationship between its subject matter and the subject

matter of the present case, McGovern ex rel. McGovern v. Brigham & Women s

Hosp. is helpful in understanding the role of medical literature in the Dauberl

reliability analysis. 584 F. Supp. 2d 418. In McGovern, Linda McGovern, the

plaintiffs mother, underwent induced labor of the plaintiff under the care of the

defendant. Dr. Schilling, Id. at 422. Upon full dilation. Dr. Schilling directed that

Ms. McGovern begin pushing. Id. After two and a half hours and little progress,

and with Ms. McGovern physically exhausted. Dr. Schilling performed a vacuum-

assisted delivery of the plaintiff. Id. Shortly thereafter, a CT scan revealed that the

plaintiff suffered a cerebral artery infarction (stroke). Id.

The plaintiff retained Dr. Engelbert, an OB/GYN, as an expert on standard

of care and causation. Id. at 424. Dr, Engelbert rendered his opinions based on "his

knowledge, education and experience as an [OB/GYN]." Id. at 425 (quotations

omitted). At issue in the case was Dr. Engelbert's opinion that "a vacuum-assisted

delivery device should always be used with caution because of the risk of

subgaleal hematoma, intracranial hemorrhage and stroke." Id. No publications

were relied upon to support Dr. Egelbert's opinion in this respect. Id.

The trial court excluded Dr. Engelbert's opinion because it was not reliable

under Danbert. Id. at 425-26. While the district court acknowledged that
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supporting publications were not strictly required, "an expert cannot establish that

a fact is generally accepted merely by saying so." Id. at 425 (quoting Grimes v,

Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc., 907 F. Supp. 33, 38 (D. N.H. 1995)). The court found

that Dr. Engelbert was unable to bridge the "analytical gap between the data and

the opinion proffered." Id, at 426 (quoting Jomer, 522 U.S. 136, 146 (1997)). Dr.

Engelbert's experience was not sufficient to establish the vacuum-stroke

connection as a generally accepted principle. Id. at 426.

2. Dr. Wener's Opinions Are Impermissible Personal

Preferences and Are Not Sufficiently Reliable.

Dr. Wener's opinions on ultrasound, glucose tolerance testing, and use of

vacuum are not based on reliable principles or methodology. They reflect Dr.

Wener's personal preferences in practicing medicine. As a consequence, no court

could ever analyze how Dr. Wener arrived at those opinions or scrutinize the

principles upon which they are based. The jury, presented with Dr. Wener's

opinions, must evaluate his opinions without the benefit of meaningful cross-

examination on underlying data or reasoning. This is precisely what the

Legislature sought to avoid when it passed the newly-amended Wis. Stat. §

907.02(1).

Clearly, the five-factor test courts often use to review the reliability of an

expert's methodology under Fed. R. Evid. 702 do not weigh in favor of

admissibility. Dr. Wener's experiences cannot be "challenged in some objective

sense." Fed. R. Evid. 702 advisory committee note (2000 amendment); see also

21



Danbert, 509 U.S. at 593-94. They cannot be "subjected] to peer review and

publication." Id. They have no "known or potential rate of error," id., nor were

there any "standards and conb'ols," id. Finally, there can be no way of know

whether his experiences have "been generally accepted in the scientific

community." Id,

An opposing party cannot test an expert's experiences in the scientific

sense. The party may obtain superficial information from the expert's curriculum

vitae and deposition testimony, but there is no way to test whether that expert's

experiences justify to any medical probability that, for example, the threshold

glucose level for ordering the three-hour diagnostic testing is 130 mg/dL. Medical

literature, on the other hand, speaks to topics such as this one and is not beyond

scrutiny in the scientific sense.

In reality, Dr. Wener's method relies on his preferences and assumptions,

none of which may be scientifically challenged by opposing counsel. For example,

he opined that Dr. Balink should not have used vacuum during delivery only

because he would not have used vacuum. His opinion does not constitute a

standard of care. It reflects what he would have done. Personal preference is not an

appropriate basis for an expert opinion.

As mentioned to the circuit court during motions after verdict, Fred J, Duboe, M.D., an

obstetrician and leading partner with Dr. Wener at Northwest Associates for Women s
Healthcare, testified at a deposition two months after the trial that the members of their group
follow the ACOG guidelines and that they, including Dr, Wener, use 135 mg/dL as the threshold
for ordering the diagnostic test, (R. 132; Ex. 2 at pp, 83-87.) Dr. Duboe's fortuitous testimony
underscores the very problem Daubert seeks to address, i.e., that experts should not be permitted
to advance baseless, self-serving opinions.
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This Court should prohibit testimony based on a rationale tantamount to

saying, Because I said so." Dazibert demands more. As federal case law on

Daubert instructs, trial courts should not conflate reliability with qualifications.

Dr. Wener, although qualified, should not be permitted to "waltz into the

courtroom and render opinions unless those opinions are reliable and relevant

under the test set forth by the Supreme Court in Daubert." dark, 192 F.3d at 759

n.5. The reliability requirement would be superfluous if it did not require experts,

such as Dr. Wener, to justify their opinions with sound methodology.

3. Dr. Werser's Refusal to Rely on Literature Which He

Acknowledged Existed Undermines the Reliability of His
Methodology.

Dr. Wener further undermined the reliability of his opinions when he

acknowledged, then dismissed, medical literature pertaining to the subjects of his

opinions. When questioned about the risk factors for shoulder dystocia at trial. Dr.

Wener stated:

A: We know what risks, we know that many, many studies have been
done. The literature Is replete — you look at one piece of literature and
they'll say that there's a risk factor for shoulder dystocia of 35 percent.
You look at another article that says 15 percent. You can't, you can't —

the numbers — I'm a Doctor taking care of patients. I have to be
aware of what the risks factors are. Tf they're major risk factors,
they're minor risk factors. How much of what I do impacts upon
those risk factors and upon the well being of this baby that Fm going
to be delivering; or mom that I'm taking care of.

Q: And as

A: I can't quote statistics.

(R. 142: p. 188 (emphases added).)
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Dr. Wener did not refer to the medical literature to bolster his opinions;

rather, he referred to it as a means of dismissing that the literature is useful. On

another occasion. Dr. Wener was confronted with medical literature from ACOG,

(Id. at pp. 132-35.) Unlike Dr. Wener, ACOG considers the threshold screening

level for ordering a three-hour glucose tolerance diagnostic test to be either 130

mg/dL or 140 mg/dL. Dr. Wener dismissed the "130 or 140" thresholds set forth

by ACOG, stating that the Practice Bulletin on Gestational Diabetes was published

in 2001 and was therefore outdated by 2009. (Id. at pp. 132-35,) The Bulletin itself

states that it was reaffirmed in 2008. (R. 128: Ex. 6 at p. 759.) Again, Dr. Wener

quickly dismissed literature which disagreed with his opinions but was unable to

reference any literature which supported them.

Dr. Wener made clear that his opinions do not require literature, studies, or

science because, unlike the scientific method. Dr. Wener's method relies only on

"a Doctor taking care of patients. Indeed, when pressed to defend his opinions,

Dr. Wcner often fell back on vacuous generalities such as "I'm caring for patients"

(R. 142: p. 29); "a doctor has to take care of every patient individually" and you

have to look at the patient as a whole (Id. at p. 66); "we're not talking statistics,

we're talking about a person" (Id. at p. 160); and [yjou can't, you can't ~~ the

numbers - I'm a Doctor taking care of patients" (Id. at p. 188). Dr. Wener

understood that the literature and studies do not support his opinions. While such

literature and studies may make valuable cross-examination fodder, they do not
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replace the requirement that all experts must employ some reliable methodology

in arriving at their opinions under Daubert.

B. Dr. Wcner Did Not Reliably Apply His Opinions to the Facts of
the Case.

In addition to reliable principles and methods, the expert must show that he

properly applied those principles and methods to the facts of the case. Wis. Stat. §

907.02(1); see also Masters v. Hesston Corp,, 291 F.3d 985, 992 (7th Cir. 2002)

(striking standard of care expert testimony for unreliable application to the facts).

An expert's methodology and conclusions are not entirely distinct considerations.

Fed. R. Evid. 702 advisory committee note (2000 amendment) (citing Joiner, 522

U.S, at 146). "[A]ny step that renders the analysis unreliable . , . renders the

expert's testimony inadmissible. This is true whether the step completely changes

a reliable methodology or merely misapplies that methodology." Id. (citing In re

Paoli R.R. Yard PCB Lftig., 35 F.3d 717, 745 (3d Cir. 1994)) (emphases omitted).

Dr. Wener's opinions cannot be reconciled with the facts of the case.

Nonetheless, the circuit court did not strike his testimony. This Court should

conclude that the circuit court exceeded its discretion in not striking Dr. Wener's

hapless application of his opinions. Additionally, the Court should conclude as a

matter of law that, like Dr. Wener's other individual opinions, Dr. Wener's

unsupportable "holistic" approach is inconsistent with Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1). Each

of these arguments will be addressed in turn.
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1. Dr. Wener Improperly Applied His Opinions to the Facts of

the Case.

Dr. Wener rendered several opinions that, given the facts of the case, could

not reliably constitute criticisms of Dr. Balink. Those opinions, instead, were

confusing and further undermined the reliability of Dr. Wener's testimony, The

following are instances of such unreliable applications:

• During his first deposition on January 15, 2013, Dr. Wener testified

that he would not use a vacuum "[i]fthe mother has had an estimated fetal weight

of greater than 4,500 grams by ultrasound . ..." (R. 66: Ex. 3 at p. 139.) However,

Braylon Seifert's actual birth weight was only 4,370 grams.

• Also during his January 15, 2013 deposition, Dr. Wener stated that

fetal weight exceeding 4,500 grams was associated with an increased risk of

shoulder dystocia. However, again, Braylon Seifert's actual birth weight was only

4,370 grams. (R. 66: Ex, 3 at pp. 107-08, 112, 127.)

• At trial, Dr. Wener provided confusing testimony regarding his

criticisms of Dr. Balink's estimation of fetal weight. Dr. Wener admitted that a

birth weight of either 4,000 or 4,500 grams is an acceptable threshold for

diagnosing macrosomia. (R. 142: pp. 158-59.) Dr. Wener agreed that Dr. Balink's

fetal weight estimate (3,856 grams) fell below the threshold for macrosomia. (Id.

at p. 159.) However, Dr. Wener's opinion lost all validity when he testified that

Braylon's actual birth weight (4,370 grams) was macrosomic under either the

4,000- or 4,500-gram threshold. (Id. at p. 159-61.) When counsel pointed out that
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4,370 is less than 4,500, Dr. Wener tried to justify this invalid opinion by stating

that Dr. Balink should have considered actual birth weight in determining the

prenatal course of care. (Id. at p. 160-62.) This portion of Dr. Wener's testimony

does not make any sense. Additionally, Dr. Wener would not admit that Braylon's

actual fetal weight was not macrosomia under the 4,500-gram threshold.

• Dr. Wener also testified at trial that ultrasonic estimations of fetal

weight may deviate above or below actual fetal weight by 10-15%. (Id. at p. 159.)

Although the difference between Dr. Balink's estimated fetal weight (3,856

grams) and the actual fetal weight (4,370 grams) was within the error rate of

ultrasound (her estimate was 1 1.7% under). Dr. Wener insisted incorrectly that the

lower end of ultrasound's error rate was above 4,000 grams. (Id. at 159-60.)

Therefore, notwithstanding Dr. Wener's attempt to apply statistics. Dr. Wencr

incorrectly concluded that Dr. Balink's estimation was less accurate than an

ultrasonic estimate.

• Dr. Wener conceded that "[tjhe way to diagnose gestational diabetes,

the only way, is a three hour glucose tolerance test. It's the only accepted way."

(Id. at pp. 142-43.) Nonetheless, Dr. Wener rendered the opinion at trial that Ms.

Seifert was, in fact, a gestational diabetic. He testified that he could come to this

conclusion because of the abnormal one-hour glucose screen, maternal obesity,

and actual fetal weight. (Id. at p, 142.) Of course, Dr. Wener had no way to lcnow

All experts at trial conceded that actual birth weight cannot be accurately determined until birth,

(See,e.g.,R. 142: p. 59.)
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what the three-hour glucose tolerance test would have shown because it was never

done.

2. Dr. Wener's "Holistic" Approach Is Not Reliable and

Contravenes the Purpose of the Reliability Requirement.

Throughout Dr. Wener's testimony, he often sought to cure deficiencies in

his opinions by advancing what the circuit court called a "holistic" approach. (R.

142: pp. 65-67.) This approach allowed Dr. Wener to state that a "constellation" of

risk factors may be simply "add[ed]" up to adduce an opinion. (Id.) In other

words, even though Dr. Wener had no legitimate way to support his opinions that

certain risk factors were present (e.g. gestational diabetes and macrosomia), he

insisted that they were present by virtue of still other risk factors (e.g. maternal

obesity, actual birth weight, one-hour glucose tolerance test). Dr. Wener justified

this approach by repeatedly stating that a physician must consider "the patient as a

whole." (Id. at pp. 29, 66, 160, 188.)

Dr. Wener admitted that he knew of no medical literature to support his so-

called holistic approach or his assertion that one can "add" up risk factors. (Id. at

p, 173.) In reality. Dr. Wener's holistic approach allowed him to skirt criticism

when the medical literature did not support his opinions. For example. Dr. Wener

conceded that a standard of care threshold for diagnosing macrosomia was 4,500

grams (as stated by ACOG and other sources). Nevertheless, he insisted that

Braylon's birth weight of 4,370 grams was macrosomic. This is a clear

contradiction. However, Dr, Wener explained that Braylon's birth weight was only
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short ofmacrosomia "[b]y 130 grams. But that's - that's within the ballpark of

macro — 4,500 grams. You're not talking about, counselor, were not talking

statistics, we're talking about a person." (Id. at pp. 160-61.)

Additionally, at times, Dr. Wener used unsupportable opinions to "support"

other unsupportable opinions. For example, Dr. Wener admitted that a three-hour

glucose tolerance test was the only way to diagnose gestational diabetes, and a

three-hour glucose tolerance test was never performed on Ms. Seifert. Yet, Dr.

Wener claimed that Ms. Seifert had gestational diabetes. (Id. at pp. 85-86.) Dr.

Wener explained that he could diagnose her with gestational diabetes "based on

the fact that she had an abnormal screening test. Based on the fact that she was

obese. And based upon the fact that she delivered a macrosomic infant. That

[he] had a shoulder dystocia. Again, based on all those factors." (Id. at p. 86

(emphasis added).)

Each time Dr. Wener realized that his opinions did not square with the facts

of the case, he reverted to his "holistic approach" and supported the sham opinion

by listing as many risk factors as he could muster. In terms of Dauberl, Dr.

Wener's holistic approach is unreliable for three reasons. First, the holistic

approach has no basis in medicine. Second, the holistic approach, abstract and

limitless in application, should not be used to cure opinions that cannot otherwise

be reliably applied to the facts of the case. Lastly, as the holistic approach was

applied by Dr. Wener, unsupported opinions should not be permitted to justify
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other unsupported opinions. The holistic approach completely undermines the

reliability requirements in Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1).

C. Dr. Wener^s Unreliable Opinions Warrant a New Trial Because

They Undermined Confidence in the Jury^s Verdict.

The circuit court held that it must "sustain the verdict if [it] can find any set

of facts which would support the jury's verdict." (R. 151: pp. 3-6.) The court then

concluded that the jury could have found that Dr. Balink used excessive traction,

suggesting that Dr. Wener's opinion related only to informed consent. (Id.) This is

not the correct standard for reviewing harmless evidentiary error. Wis. Stat. §

805.18(2) states in relevant part that a new trial may be granted if "it shall appear

that the error complained of has affected the substantial rights of the party seeking

... to secure a new trial." An error (<affect[s] the substantial rights of a party" if

there is a "reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the outcome of the

action or proceeding at issue." Evelyn C.R. v. Tykila S. (in Re Jaylon S.), 2001 WI

110, ^ 28, 246 Wis. 2d 1, 629 N.W.2d 768 (citations omitted). Such a "reasonable

possibility" exists if the error "undermine[s] confidence in the outcome." Id.

(emphasis added). Consequently, this Court's review of harmless error is de novo.

No one knows with certainty what the jury based its verdict on. The verdict

questions read as follows regarding negligence and cause:

QUESTION NO. 1: Was Dr. Kay Balink negligent in the prenatal and
delivery care ofKimberly Seifert / Braylon Seifert?

QUESTION N0.2: If you answered Question 1 "yes," then answer this
question: Was such negligence a cause of injury to Braylon Seifert?
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(R. 115 (emphasis added.) The first question explicitly mentions prenatal care and

is in no way restricted to traction. The jury could have relied upon Dr. Wener's

opinions that Dr. Balink breached the standard of care by not ordering a pre-birth

ultrasound or a three-hour diagnostic glucose tolerance test to get a sense of the

baby's size. The second question, again, does not depend on excessive traction.

The jury could have believed that Dr. Balink's failure to perform a pre-birth

ultrasound or a three-hour diagnostic glucose tolerance test prevented her from

considering a c-section in light of the risk that Braylon Seifert was a large baby.

Accordingly, if Braylon's injury was caused by maternal forces, as opposed to

excessive traction, then the jury could have concluded that Dr. Balink s failure to

consider a c-section prior to the injury was a cause of Braylon's injury.

Alternatively, even ifBraylon's injury was caused by physician-applied traction,

but the traction was found to be reasonable under the emergent circumstances, the

jury could have concluded that Dr. Balink's failure to consider a c-section prior to

the injury was a cause of his injury. Finally, the jury may have inferred that, if Dr.

Dr. Wener provided substantial testimony to the jury as to why the size of the baby can affect
the ease by which the mother can deliver, (R. 142; pp. 35-37, 88-89), how delivery difficulties
and maternal fatigue are an indication for a c-section, (Id. at pp. 90-91, 174-75), how a c-section
would have prevented the brachial plexus injury, (Id, at pp. 110-11), whether Dr. Balink
discussed a c-section with Ms. Seifert, (Id, at p. 1 12), and the minimal risk that c-sections pose to
the fetus, (Id. at pp. 177-79).

The theory of maternal forces was the etiology ofBraylon Seifert's injury posited by the defense
during trial.

Dr. Wener, among other experts, testified about instances in which physician-applied excessive
traction could be reasonable. (E.g., R. 142: pp. 55-56,)
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Balink made mistakes during the prenatal period, she likely made mistakes during

delivery.

Not only is it probable that the jury relied upon Dr. Wener's unreliable

opinions, a substantial majority of the trial time related to them. Dr. Wener's

testimony, and the testimony of Dr. Balink's experts in response, related almost

exclusively to issues other than excessive traction. For each opinion, Dr. Wener

told the jury that Dr. Balink breached the standard of care (which bears on claims

for negligence, not informed consent). If the circuit court believed that Dr.

Wener's unreliable opinions related solely to informed consent, then the court

should have struck Dr. Wener's testimony and dismissed Plaintiffs' informed

consent claim rather than allowing it to infect the jury's consideration of the

negligence claim. Additionally, to the extent Plaintiffs argue that Dr. Wener's

unreliable opinions related to non-causal issues, the circuit court specifically

ordered that the Plaintiffs could not refer to non-causal negligence. (R. 138: p. 32.)

The circuit court's erroneous admission of Dr. Wener's opinions was not

harmless. Dr. Wener's unreliable opinions did influence the jury's verdict. Dr.

Balink tried to preclude or strike Dr. Wener's testimony on at least four occasions:

during pretrial motions, after he testified at trial, during the directed verdict

motion, and during motions after verdict. His testimony was vital to the outcome

of the trial. Dr. Balink respectfully requests that the Court find Dr. Wener's

testimony unreliable under Wis. Stat. § 907,02(1) and conclude that there was a

"reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the outcome" of this lawsuit,
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II. PLAINTIFFS' COUNSEL'S COMMENTS DURING CLOSING
WERE PREJUDICIAL TO DR. BALINK AND PREVENTED THE
TRUE ISSUES OF THE CASE FROM BEING TRIED.

A. Law on Improper Statements of Counsel

An order for a new t'ial based on improper statements of counsel is

appropriate if it '"affirmatively appear[s]' that the remarks prejudiced the

complaining party." Wansau Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Dane County, 142 Wis. 2d

315, 329-30, 417 N.W,2d 914 (Ct. App. 1987) (quoting Wagner, 65 Wis. 2d at

249-50). This standard is satisfied upon a showing that "the verdict reflects a result

which in all probability would have been more favorable to [the movants] but for

the improper conduct." Id.

An attorney's inability to follow court orders is inexcusable. Wisconsin

Supreme Court Rule 20:3.4(c) states that an attorney shall not "knowingly disobey

an obligation under the rules of a tribunal, except for an open refusal based on an

assertion that no valid obligation exists." Additionally, this Court has expressed its

increasing dismay and sensitivity to prejudicial comments made by counsel in

violation of court orders. See State v. Sigarroa, 2004 WI App 16, ^ 28-29, 269

Wis. 2d 234, 674 N.W.2d 894; State v. Seefeldt, 2002 WI App 149, ^ 27, 256 Wis.

2d 410, 647 N.W.2d 894; Gainer v. Koewler, 200 Wis. 2d 113, 122-24, 546

N.W.2d 474 (Ct. App. 1996).

The circuit court addressed Defendants' arguments in motions after verdict

even though defense counsel did not move for a mistrial. As this Court stated in

Pophal v. Siverhus, 168 Wis. 2d 533, 544, 484 N.W.2d 555 (Ct. App. 1992):
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[W]e may in our discretion review the claimed errors even if

the plaintiffs lost the right of appellate review as of right
because they failed to move for mistrial. . . . Seldom in the

ceaseless flow of appeals before us do we see motions for

mistriaL We repeatedly review errors when a timely objection

has been made unaccompanied by a motion for a mistrial. We

choose to follow our normal course, exercising our discretion

to review each of the claimed errors, even if plaintiffs are not

entitled to review as of right.

See also Nimmer v. Purtell, 69 Wis. 2d 21, 40, 230 N.W.2d 258 (1975).

Defendants ask that this Court, like its precedent suggests and consistent with the

circuit court, review these errors in the interest of justice and in following its

normal course of appellate review,

B. Plaintiffs' Counsel's Statements During Closing Arguments,

Which Violated Numerous Orders in Limine, Prejudiced Dr.

Balink.

During the course of closing argument, Plaintiffs' counsel made prejudicial

statements in contravention of the circuit court's pretrial rulings in limine. Indeed,

Plaintiffs' counsel conceded during motions after verdict that his statements were

improper but not sufficiently prejudicial to warrant a new trial. (R, 129; pp. 32-

33.) Dr. Balink sets forth below a section excerpting each of Plaintiffs' counsel

statements and describing why each statement is prejudicial and/or violative of the

circuit court's prefrial order.

1. Plaintiffs ' Counsel 's Reference to the Rides of the Road

Plaintiffs' counsel's breach of the Court's order prohibiting counsel from

making analogies to the Rules of the Road warrants a new trial. The Court ordered

prior to trial that counsel may not "suggest to the jury that the issues in this case
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are anything like holding a negligent driver liable for injuries in a motor vehicle

case." (R. 67: p. 2.) Plaintiffs' counsel stated to the jury that a doctor who ignores

accumulating risk factors, such as an abnormal glucose screen and maternal

obesity, is analogous to a driver ignoring accumulating risk factors, like exceeding

the speed limit and hazardous weather conditions.

The order in limine precludes this type of analogy. The defense requested

the order because such analogies subvert the need for expert testimony and imply

that, like motor vehicle standards of care, medical standards of care are something

within the common knowledge of laypersons. See Wis JI-Civil 1023. Plaintiffs

counsel even acquiesced to the order before trial. Nonetheless, this is precisely the

analogy that Plaintiffs' counsel made. The circuit court should have sustained

defense counsel's objection and enforced its pretrial order. Instead, the jury was

left with the impression that Dr. Wener's opinions regarding standards of care

could be equated to speed limits and weather hazards on the roadway. This is

clearly impermissible.

2. Plaintiffs' Counsel's "Is that how you ^ant your doctor to

care? Statements

Plaintiffs' counsel clearly violated the circuit court's orders in limine when

he t\'\nce stated that jurors should place themselves into the shoes of a patient

receiving the care advised by Dr, Rouse, Dr. Balink's standard of care expert. To

be clear, the care advised by Dr. Rouse was the same as the care actually rendered

by Dr, Balink. Plaintiffs' counsel addressed the jurors directly: "Is that how you
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want your doctor to care?" on the first occasion and "Is that what you want?

You want a doctor to treat you, or you want a doctor to say, well, you're at

139. You're not at 140. No test for you. Or do you want a doctor to think

about you?" on the second occasion. The court order which he breached twice

stated that counsel was prohibited from appealing to "what ajuror would 'want' or

'deserve'." (R. 57: pp. 13-14.) The order was clear, but Plaintiffs' counsel made

the statements anyway.

Plaintiffs' counsel's decision to address the jurors directly and to ask them

whether they would want their own doctor to take Dr. Rouse's position is

exceedingly prejudicial. First, arguments relating to whether a juror would want

his or her own doctor to take a certain position is irrelevant and simply appeals to

the jurors' emotions. Plaintiffs' counsel asked the jurors how they would feel if

they were in a position similar to Kimbcrly Seifert and were rendered the care

advised by Dr. Rouse. In this way, it is similar to the "golden rule" which is

clearly prohibited in Wisconsin. See Rodriguez v. Slattery, 54 Wis. 2d 165, 170,

194 N.W.2d 817 (1972).

Second, and perhaps even more prejudicial to Dr. Balinlc, jurors must

determine the standard of care applicable to the physician based on expert

testimony. Wis JI-Civil 1023 states:

You have heard testimony during this trial from doctors who have

testified as expert witnesses. The reason for this is because the degree
of care, skill, and judgment which a reasonable doctor would
exercise is not a matter within the common knowledge of laypcrsons.
This standard is within the special knowledge of experts in the field of
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medicine and can only be established by the testimony of experts.

You, therefore, may not speculate or guess what the standard of care,
skill and judgment is in deciding this case, but rather must attempt to
determine it from the expert testimony that you heard during this trial.

(Emphases added.) Plaintiffs' counsel's statement asked the jurors to do the exact

opposite. Plaintiffs' counsel implored the Jurors to consider their personal feelings

about the standard of care that they would prefer to receive under a similar

circumstance. Given the fact that the jurors knew the injury in this case, what were

they likely to think? They were likely to want the most conservative care possible.

This is not what the standard of care requires, and this is not what the jury

instructions permit in medical malpractice cases. Plaintiffs' counsel was aware of

it and made the statements anyway,

3. Other Statements by Plaintiffs' Counsel During Rebuttal

Clos ing Argument

Despite defense counsel's previous objections and the circuit court's orders

in limine, Plaintiffs' counsel continued to make comments which sought to

demean defense counsel while simultaneously suggesting that the jurors were

experts. Both implications violated the circuit court's orders in limine. The court

clearly stated at the pretrial hearing that "[w]e will not direct any comments about

any counsel in any way. It is improper and jurors hate it." (R. 138: p. 40.) The

circuit court should have enforced its own orders.

The circuit court's directives were breached when Plaintiffs' counsel made

statements like: "I didn't tell you you're not that smart"; "I have a little more

respect for you than Mr, Lelb does"; "I've got a little more faith in you than he
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does"; "[t]hese are the kind of arguments you make to juries if you think they're

not too smart"; "[fjool you, scare you, you know?"; ('[y]ou people are from

Lancaster. How smart could you be, right?"; "I think you should be respected,

not told what to do or tooled"; "[y]ou should be talked to like adults"; "[t]his

shell game, you know, this game that they're trying to play with you"; [i]t's a

matter of respect. I don't do it to you"; "[s]o when Mr. Leib comes before you

and makes his big grandstand move"; "[ijt's a matter, again, of respect. Its a

matter of respecting you as a group and trying to fool you"; "[u]nlike Mr.

Leib, 1 think you're smart people . . . .

Additionally, the court ordered that counsel could not make statements to

the jurors that they can determine medical negligence using their own experience,

common sense, or without expert testimony. (R. 57: pp. 13-14.) This directive was

breached when Plaintiffs' counsel made statements like: "I didn't tell you you're

not experts"; "he spent the last hour and a half . . . telling you what you don't

know and that you're not going to be experts — you're not going to know the

information. I disagree"; "I think you ve learned the medicine and I think you

are experts in a sense.

Defendants limit their discussion here to Plaintiffs' counsel's insults directed at defense counsel.
However, counsel's misconduct was persistent throughout the trial, including, for example, his
elicitation from Dr, Balink that she was not admitted to a domestic medical school. Over
numerous objections, the circuit court did not rein in on Plaintiffs' counsel's conduct.
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C. These Prejudicial Statements, Together, Warrant a New Trial.

Medical malpractice cases are unique in that a substantial portion of the

jurors' time is spent listening to expert witnesses explain what is expected of a

reasonable physician and whether the physician in the case conformed to those

expectations. This is because the jurors' duties are strictly limited by the jury

instructions. The jurors are prohibited from evaluating the defendant's conduct

under any other standard than the ones described by the medical experts. The

jurors are free to eschew one expert's opinions in favor of another expert s

opinions, but they are not permitted to rely on their own conceptions of the

standards of care applicable to physicians.

Plaintiffs' counsel's statements during closing argument intentionally

confused the jurors' duties with respect to expert testimony. The first statement

analogized the risk factors set forth in Dr. Wener's standard of care opinions to

various traffic rules in violation of a court order. The second and third statements

asked the jurors to put themselves in the patient's position and consider their lay

opinions as to the degree of care they would like to receive, again in violation of a

court order. On the one hand. Plaintiffs' counsel mischaracterized to the jury both

the standard of care and Dr. Wener's testimony. On the other hand, Plaintiffs'

counsel asked that the jurors' to ignore the standard of care in favor of their

personal feelings in considering Dr. Rouse s testimony.

There can be no dispute that this case involved emotional facts. Braylon

Seifert suffered a permanent injury which will affect his body for the rest of his
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life. Under such circumstances, the rule of law and the duty of the jury are

particularly important. To protect Dr, Balink against violations of the law by

plaintiffs' counsel, the defense brought numerous motions in limine. Most of these

motions were granted because they plainly reflected the state of the law,

Nevertheless, Plaintiffs' counsel broke the law and violated these orders just

minutes before the jury retired to the jury room to deliberate this emotional case.

The defense submits that these comments had the probable result of influencing

how the jurors deliberated in the jury room. A new trial should be granted to Dr.

Balink.

III. DR. BALINK DESERVES A NEW TRIAL IN THE INTERESTS OF
JUSTICE BECAUSE THE GENUINE ISSUES OF THE CASE WERE
NOT TRIED.

The Court should reverse the circuit court's erroneous exercise of its

discretion in not ordering a new trial in the interests of justice under Wis. Stat.

805.15(1). Alternatively, this Court should exercise its discretionary powers under

Wis. Stat. § 752.35 to order a new trial. Admittedly, each request implicates a

steep burden for the appellant. A circuit court's decision whether to order a new

trial in the interests of justice "will not be disturbed unless the court clearly abused

its discretion." Sieverf v. Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co., 180 Wis. 2d 426, 431, 509

N.W.2d 75 (Ct. App. 1993). Similarly, this Court may order a new trial in the

interests of justice "only in exceptional cases," Vollmer v. Luefy, 156 Wis. 2d 1,

U,456N.W.2d797(1990).
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This case presents exceptional circumstances. Although Dr. Balink is

confident that the Court will find her arguments in the foregoing sections

persuasive, the interplay between Dr. Wener's unreliable opinions and the

prejudicial statements by Plaintiffs counsel warrant special consideration. Both

influenced the way in which the jurors perceived the standard of care applicable to

Dr. Balink. On the one hand, Dr. Wener's opinions, and the dearth of reliability

inherent in them, provided the jurors with the only expert evidentiary support for

the Plaintiffs' theory of liability on standard of care. On the other hand, Plaintiffs'

counsel's statements, which violated several orders in Umine that went unenforced

by the circuit court, obscured how the jurors should analyze expert evidence in

arriving at a just verdict.

The standard of care, and whether that standard is breached, is the crux of

most medical malpractice cases. In this case, it was the only genuine question on

liability. Clearly, if the Court was to grant a new trial in the interests of justice,

neither Plaintiffs nor Defendants would be deprived of their fair day in court. Yet,

as the verdict currently stands, Dr. Balink was likely deprived of hers. She asks

that the Court exercise its discretionary authority to order a new trial in the

interests of justice.
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should vacate the judgment of the

circuit court and remand the case for a new trial,
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